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Estate Carolina lies five miles east of Cruz Bay on St. John. It is significant 
for the ruins of its early 18th Century sugar plantation, which are among the earliest 
on all the islands, and for the ruins of the turn-of-the-century rum distillery, which 
continued production until after World War II. The ruins of the buildings on the site 
that were part of the sugar plantation, with approximate dates of construction, are 
the animal mill and the sugar factory (both 1725), and the windmill (1733). The bay 
rum distillery ruins include the remains of the original distillery, and a 
neighboring building of unidentified use, (both probably dating from ca. 1900), a 
later distillery bearing the incised date 1925, and two buildings used as stores, 
bearing incised dates of 1920 and 1945, respectively.

The complex of the sugar plantation buildings lies roughly 1000' north of King 
Hill Road and 2500' west of Emmaus Moravian Church. The windmill is the typical 
cone-shape found on the islands. It is constructed of rubble and ballast brick set in 
a lime mortar and stuccoed, and is approximately 35' high and 29' in diameter. The 
mill has windows in the form of semi -elliptical arches on the north, west and southwest, 
with the main entrance to the south. All the arched openings are faced with brick on 
the interior, exterior, and jambs of the arches. Measured at the window openings, 
the walls of the mill are approximately five feet thick. Reveals that originally 
contained the top of the mill gears are located immediately under the top of the 
interior wall. A series of timbers that supported the machinery are still in place 
immediately above the heads of the arches in the interior, from which point they span 
the diameter of the mill.

The ruins of the animal mill are located roughly 50' to the west of the windmill. 
Also constructed of brick and rubble masonry and originally covered in stucco, the 
animal mill is an unusually wide solid drum with low walls, measuring from five to 
15' high depending on the grade of the site. The diameter of the mill is 70'. There 
is no articulation of the exterior, except for a series of rectangular drainage 
openings about three 1 from the top of the walls.

The ruins of the factory are located about 15' west of the mill. The originally 
two-story factory(of which only one story remains) is the typical T-Plan of factories 
found on the islands, with the long axis of the base of the T running northwest - south­ 
east. Constructed of rubble masonry, and probably originally stuccoed, the factory 
is 81* by 28' wide, with the top of the T measuring 26' by 104'. The main, southeast 
wall is divided into eight bays of arched openings, of which only the piers remain. 
The rear, northwest facade is solid, except at the north corner, which has three 
arched openings, again marked only by piers. As the remaining walls of the factory 
are badly deteriorated, the bay division of the ends is indiscernable, as is the main 
entrance for the factory. Measured at an opening, the walls are 2 '3" thick.

The &ay rum distillery complex lies just south of King Hill Road and roughly ' 500 ' 
West Of Coral Harbor. The tWO buildings Of the Original distillery are very deteriorated,

and only the basic rectangular foundations of the larger building nearest the road and 
portions of walls of the smaller structure about ten feet to the south can be seen.
The building material is rubble masonry.

continued. . .
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

This was the first and the richest sugar estate on the island established shortly 
after settlement in 1717 as an official plantation of the Danish West India & Guinea Co. 
The ruins of Estate Carolina comprise an exceptionally complete collection of^buildings 
necessary to the production of sugar and bay rum. The exceptionally large animal 
treadmill with cane crushers dates to before 1725; the stone windmill was built by 1733. 
The sugar factory has two decks for boiling sugar, extensive cisterns and curing rooms 
for processing molasses and sugar. It was built by 1725 and probably enlarged 
periodically. The great house probably dates to the late 1700's. It is shown in 
an 1833 watercolor and was occupied until 1924 when destroyed by a hurricane.

It was at Estate Carolina that a successful slave rebellion broke out in 
November 23, 1733. The slave rebellion spread to adjacent estates and engulfed the 
entire island of St. John with the exception of Durlo's Plantation (Caneel Bay). 
The rebellion could not be suppressed by the Danes and was put down only upon arrival 
of four hundred French troops from Martinique and six months of hard fighting.

The plantation became Crown property in 1755 operated by representatives of the 
King and other shareholders; it and all other Crown properties on the three islands 
were sold to the wealthy ennobled Schimmelmann family. The Marsh family, originally 
from Tortola, bought from the Schimmelmanns in the early 1860's and have held the 
plantation ever since. In 1835 the estate had 1,687 acres, 153 slaves, two mills 
and 25 houses with 53 rooms. These figures pertained when the Marshes bought it except 
the laborers were reduced to only 75, reflecting the increasingly deteriorating sugar 
industry. In later decades it was operated as a cattle ranch. One of the islands' 
few bay rum stills for separating the oil from leaves on the bay tree was established 
here around 1900. Its ruins remain with a huge copper still. A newer still was 
built close by in 1925 which was the last such still to close down on the island, 
at the end of World War II.
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The Governor's representative for St. John is considering the 
acquisition of part of Estate Carolina as a park for historic 
interpretation.
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About 35' to the east of the early ruins lies the 20th century distillery. It 
is a two-story rectangle, constructed of concrete block, measuring 22' 9" by 19' 3", 
with two bays on each side. The date 1925 is incised between the bays of the second 
story on the east facade.

To the south of both distilleries are located two rectangular buildings that 
were thestores for the distillery, their long axis running east-west. Both are 
one-story, constructed of masonry, rubble and stucco, and have hipped roofs. The 
store immediately south of the 20th century distillery bears the incised date, 1920, 
and measures 36* 6" by 25' 6". The other building, approximately the same size, 
bears the incised date 1945.

There are also the ruins of two great houses, both inaccessible. An 18th century 
great house was located on a knoll roughly 200' north of King Hill Road and roughly 
2200' west of Emmaus Morovian Church. A later great house, destroyed in the 
hurricane of 1924, was located on a knoll roughly 500' northwest of the sugar factory 
It would appear from a 1843 or 1844 sketch by Henry Norton that there was a slave 
village at the bottom of this knoll, to the east. The ruins, if they exist, are 
inaccessible.
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Geographic Coordinates

Tract 1:

A. 180 21' 20" north - 64° 43' 11" west

B. 180 20' 56" north - 64° 43' 14" west

C. 180 21' 00" north - 64° 43' 41" west

D. 18° 21' 13" north - 64° 43' 39" west

Tract 2:

A. 18° 20' 54" north - 64° 43' 00" west

B. 18° 20' 46" north - 64° 43' 01" west

C. 18° 20' 50" north - 64° 43' 07" west

D. 18° 20' 55" north - 64° 43' 06" west

Verbal Boundary Description

The Estate Carolina site is divided into two tracts. 
The boundary of Tract 1 begins at a point at 18° 21' 20" north • 
64° 43' 11" west (A) and runs south 2400' to 18° 20' 56" north 
64° 43' 14" west (B), then west 2700' to a point at 18° 21' 00" 
north - 64° 43' 41" west (C), then north 1300' to point (D) 
at 18° 21' 13" north - 64° 43' 39" west. From here the boun­ 
dary runs 2850' northeast to the point of origin (A).

The boundary of Tract 2 begins at point (A) 18° 20' 54" 
north - 64° 43' 00" west and runs 500' south to point (B) 
18° 20' 46" north - 64° 43' 01" west. From point (B) the line 
runs west 600' to point (C) 18° 20' 50" north - 64° 43' 07" 
west. From point (C) the line runs north 500' to point (D) 
18° 20' 55" north - 64° 43' 06" west. From here the line runs 
east 500' to the point of origin (A).


